IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

QUESTION**

Pursuant to Rule 13 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, Petitioners,
Wellington Power Corporation ("Wellington") and W.G. Tomko, Incorporated ("Tomko")
hereby submit their brief in support of their position on the certified question from the Honorable

Robert B. Stone, presiding in the Circuit Court of Monongalia County, West Virginia.

I. THE KIND OF PROCEEDING AND NATURE OF THE RULING BELOW

The case presents a novel and important issue regarding a subcontractor's ability to proceed with a claim against a contractor's surety bond on a public building project where the subcontract contains a "pay if paid" condition precedent clause.

This matter arises from the work of Wellington and Tomko as subcontractors on a construction project at the Life Sciences Building of West Virginia University in Morgantown, West Virginia ("the Project"). Upon information and belief, Dick was the construction manager on the Project pursuant to a contract with the Owner of the Project, West Virginia University ("WVU" or the "University"). On or about October 25, 2000, Wellington entered into an agreement with Dick to provide labor, material and supervision for certain electrical work on the Project ("Wellington's Subcontract"). Tomko entered into a similar agreement with Dick for certain plumbing work on the same day ("Tomko's Subcontract"). A portion of both Wellington's Subcontract and Tomko's Subcontract is attached to their Complaints as Exhibit "1."

CNA, through National Fire Insurance Company of Hartford ("National Fire") and as surety for Dick Corporation, provided a Labor and Material Payment Bond naming Dick as principal and WVU as obligee. A copy of the Payment Bond ("Bond") is attached to the Complaints as Exhibit "2." Pursuant to the terms of the Bond, National Fire and Dick bound themselves jointly and severally to assure the payment by Dick of the claims of certain persons supplying labor and materials used or reasonably required for use in the performance of the Subcontract.

During the course of the Project, Wellington's and Tomko's work was delayed and

disrupted due to, among other things, Dick's mismanagement of the Project. As a result, Wellington and Tomko were forced to expend significant additional time and money on the Project to complete its work. Furthermore, at the conclusion of the Project, Dick owed Wellington and Tomko their contract balance and retainage and costs associated with directed overtime and authorized change orders.

Because Dick refused to pay Wellington and Tomko for the above damages, both contractors made demands upon National Fire and its Bond to recover the money owed to them by Dick. National Fire, however, has refused to make payment to Wellington or Tomko on their claims. Because of this nonpayment, Wellington and Tomko filed separate suits against National Fire pursuant to the Labor and Material Payment Bond issued by National Fire in the Circuit Court of Monongalia County, West Virginia.

On or about April 16, 2003, National Fire filed a Motion to Dismiss the Complaints of both Wellington and Tomko or, in the alternative, to stay these matters. In its Motions to Dismiss, National Fire took the position that, as Dick's surety, it could invoke as a complete defense to liability an alleged condition precedent in Dick's subcontract with Wellington and Tomko that indicates that payment is not due from Dick until Dick has been paid by WVU for the monies sought by Wellington and Tomko. Importantly, this so-called "pay if paid" clause that National Fire sought to invoke was never incorporated into the Payment Bond.

In response to the Motions, Wellington and Tomko argued that the "pay if paid" clause as an absolute condition precedent in the subcontracts undermines the very purpose of requiring a payment bond and, thus, violates public policy. In a case of first impression, the Circuit Court agreed with Wellington and Tomko and denied National Fire's Motions to Dismiss, ruling that a "pay if paid" clause under a public contract scenario is unenforceable by a surety on a public

project as against the public policy of West Virginia. A true and correct copy of a transcript of a portion of the proceedings before Honorable Judge Robert B. Stone is attached hereto as Exhibit "A."

Upon later motion by National Fire, the Circuit Court agreed to certify the following novel question of law to this Court:

In a public building project in West Virginia, does a "pay if paid" condition precedent clause violate West Virginia public policy, as articulated in the West Virginia Public Bond Statute (W.Va. Code § 38-2-39), so as to entitle a subcontractor to proceed with a claim against a contractor's surety bond, despite the terms of its subcontract that the contractor itself is not liable for payment to the subcontractor because of the failure of the same "pay if paid" condition precedent clause?

A true and correct copy of the Order of Certification to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit "B." The two cases were consolidated for purposes of certifying this question to the Supreme Court of Appeals and all further proceedings were stayed pending receipt of a certified answer from this Court. Both sides then filed Petitions to Docket the certified question with the Court, which were granted on September 16, 2004. A copy of the Court's Order of September 16, 2004 is attached hereto as Exhibit "C." It is Petitioners' position that, in light of other courts' interpretations of the law on the enforceability of "pay if paid" clauses, the Circuit Court was correct in finding the clauses invalid as against public policy. As such, Petitioners respectfully request that the Court answer the certified question in the affirmative.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Contract Balance and Retainage

As noted, Wellington and Tomko contracted with Dick to provide various construction

services on the Project. Wellington agreed to provide electrical contracting services on the Project for \$4,607,700.00. Due to a series of Change Orders totaling \$200,819.57 and payments for overtime totaling \$114,830.00, the Subcontract amount was adjusted to \$4,923,349.57. Dick forwarded payments to Wellington totaling \$4,623,440.90, leaving an outstanding contract balance of \$299,908.67, including retainage. Wellington further incurred \$442,802.00 in authorized and directed overtime premiums, \$327,972.00 of which Dick has refused and failed to pay.

In addition, Wellington performed extra work pursuant to field changes in the scope of the Project in the amount of \$101,610.00, which Dick has refused and failed to pay as well. Furthermore, Wellington performed work pursuant to pending Change Orders, for which it has not received payment. These total an additional \$200,423.00. Taken together, Wellington is currently owed \$929,913.67 in outstanding contract balance and retainage, directed overtime, authorized and requested field changes and pending change order requests.

Pursuant to its subcontract, Tomko agreed to provide plumbing contracting services on the Project for \$1,824,444.00. Due to a series of Change Orders totaling \$231,689.46, the Subcontract amount was adjusted to \$2,056,133.46. Dick forwarded payments to Tomko totaling \$1,949,551.80, leaving an outstanding contract balance of \$209,163.32 including retainage. Tomko further incurred \$95,468.00 in authorized and directed overtime premiums, all of which Dick has refused and failed to pay. Taken together, Tomko is currently owed \$304,631.32 in outstanding contract balance and retainage, directed overtime, and authorized change orders. Despite repeated demands, both National Fire and Dick have failed and refused to remit any of this outstanding money due to Wellington and Tomko.

B. Compensable Delays on Project

In addition, due to numerous delays on the Project, Wellington and Tomko were forced to expend significant additional time and money of the Project. The cause of these delays and impacts included:

- WVU's need to rebid the steel portion of the Project;
- design problems with Stairwell #4 in the east wing;
- delays in steel fabrication, delivery and erection in the west wing
- access problems in the main switch gear room due to the redesign ordered by WVU;
- Dick's improper scheduling of the drywall contractor;
- The lack of a material hoist and the inability to stock pile materials on site; and
- Dick's poor construction management skills.

Specifically, Dick (1) failed to properly plan, schedule and coordinate the work on the Project as a whole; (2) failed to obtain and effectuate design and engineering changes and clarifications in an timely and coordinated manner so as not to impede or disrupt the progress of Wellington's and Tomko's work; and (3) directly interfered with the scheduling and performance of Wellington's and Tomko's work by causing changes and disruptions to their planned methods and sequences of work.

Due to Dick's poor construction management skills, Wellington and Tomko were forced to work in conditions where there was:

- Stacking of trades;
- Out of sequence work;
- Denial of access;
- Vacillating crew sizes;
- Dedication of additional supervision to deal with larger crews; and
- Working in multiple areas simultaneously.

As a result, Wellington and Tomko experienced numerous delays, disruptions and inefficiencies in their attempts to complete their work in a timely manner under their respective Subcontracts.

They also completed their work significantly later than the dates set forth in the Project

Schedule.

As a result of the aforementioned breaches of contract, Wellington has suffered damages in an amount in excess of \$3,600,000.00, all of which resulted from Wellington's increased labor and material costs, including but not limited to directed acceleration and additional supervision, as a result of the aforementioned delays, disruptions and inefficiencies on the Project, all in excess of the costs contemplated under the Subcontract. For the same reasons, Tomko has incurred damages in excess of \$1,500,000.00.

C. Dick's Payment Bond

In accordance with Dick's contract with WVU, Dick procured a Payment Bond from CNA, naming Dick as principal and WVU as obligee. Pursuant to the terms of the Bond, National Fire and Dick bound themselves jointly and severally to assure the payment by Dick of the claims of certain persons supplying labor and materials used or reasonably required for use in the performance of the Subcontract. There is no "pay-if-paid" language contained within the Payment Bond itself or incorporated therein.

Wellington and Tomko have sued National Fire under the Bond because of Dick's failure to pay them for the above damages. National Fire has attempted to avoid liability for payment to Wellington and Tomko by arguing that there has been a complete failure of an absolute condition precedent specified in the subcontracts to the obligation of Dick, and consequently its own, to pay Petitioners. However, the lower court found that this condition precedent, a "pay if paid" clause, would violate the public policy of West Virginia if enforced.

III. DISCUSSION OF LAW

Under section 58-5-2 of the West Virginia Code, any question of law arising upon a challenge to the sufficiency of a pleading may be certified by the circuit court in which it arises

to the Supreme Court of Appeals for its decision. W. Va. Code § 58-5-2. The question before this Court comes as the result of the Circuit Court's denial of National Fire's motions to dismiss Petitioners' complaints for failure of an absolute condition precedent and, thus, was properly certified to this Court. The facts necessary to resolve this question of law are not in dispute: (1) Petitioners entered into subcontracts with Dick to perform work on the Project; (2) Petitioners performed all work required in their subcontracts; (3) Petitioners have not been paid by Dick for all the work performed under their subcontracts; (4) Dick procured a payment bond to guarantee payment of its subcontractors; (5) National Fire, as Dick's surety, subcontractors; (6) the project is a publicly funded project; and (7) the bond itself does not include a "pay if paid" clause or incorporate Petitioners' subcontracts. Petitioners seek to enforce the Payment Bond against National Fire as a result of Dick's nonpayment and have not made any claims under the Subcontract.

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review of questions of law answered and certified by a circuit court is de novo. *See, e.g.,* Syl. Pt. 2, Keplinger v. Virginia Elec. and Power Co., 208 W. Va. 11, 537 S.E.2d 632 (2000); Syl. Pt. 1, Gallapoo v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 197 W. Va. 172, 475 S.E.2d 172 (1996). Under the de novo standard of review, Petitioners, Wellington and Tomko, respectfully submit that the circuit court's decision that a "pay if paid" clause violates public policy when contained in a contract for public building projects in West Virginia was correct as supported by similar decisions in other jurisdictions.

B. ARGUMENT

Although West Virginia law is silent on the issue before this Court, Petitioners urge this Court to follow the case law of other jurisdictions as the court did below and affirm Judge

Stone's ruling that a "pay-if-paid" clause is unenforceable under the laws of the State of West Virginia, and as a consequence, a surety may not rely upon a "pay-if-paid" clause not contained within the bond itself or incorporated therein.

1. West Virginia would consider a "pay-if-paid" clause to be in violation of public policy

The purpose of a "pay-if-paid" clause in a subcontract on a construction project is to shift the risk of owner nonpayment from the general contractor, whom has a contract directly with the owner, to a subcontractor, who does not. Many courts around the nation have struggled with the question of whether such a clause creates an absolute condition precedent to payment to a subcontractor or whether it simply creates a timing mechanism that would require the contractor to pay the subcontractor within a reasonable period of time even without payment from the owner. See, i.e., West-Fair Electric Contractors v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., 638 N.Y.S.2d 394, 661 N.E.2d 967 (N.Y. 1995); OBS Co. v. Case Construction Corp., 558 So.2d 404 (Fla. 1990); Wm. R. Clarke Corp. v. Safeco Insurance Co., 64 Cal. Rptr.2d 578, 938 P.2d 372 (Cal. 1997); R&L Acoustics v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co., 2001 WL 1249658 (Conn. Sup. Ct. 2001); Brown & Kerr Inc. v. St. Paul Fire and Marine Insurance Co., 940 F. Supp. 1245 (N.D. Ill. 1996). The majority view is that such clauses are unenforceable as absolute condition precedents. Statesville Roofing & Heating Co. v. Duncan, 702 F. Supp. 118, 119 (WDNC 1988) ("The trend now in most States is that, absent special circumstances, such language is given no weight.")

The West-Fair case is illustrative of why courts have found that "pay-if-paid" clauses, which are an absolute condition precedent, are against public policy. In West-Fair, the highest court in the State of New York was faced with a situation similar to the one at hand in that a subcontractor had brought suit against a surety for payments not made by the latter's principal

and the surety raised the defense of a “pay-if-paid” clause. The West-Fair court ruled that such a clause does not create a timing mechanism but, instead, creates an absolute condition precedent to payment. West-Fair, 661 N.E.2d at 970. The court, however, then undertook an analysis of New York’s Lien Law and opined that the Lien Law “is remedial in nature and intended to protect those who have directly expended labor and materials to improve real property at the direction of the owner or general contractor.” Id. Consequently, the court reasoned that, if the court were to make the “pay-if-paid” clause an absolute condition precedent, a subcontractor could not file a lien in the event of nonpayment from the owner. Id. at 971. The court held that:

a pay-when-paid provision which forces the subcontractor to assume the risk that the owner will fail to pay the general contractor is void and unenforceable as contrary to public policy set forth in the Lien Law . . .

Id. The court then ruled that the surety could not rely upon the “pay-if-paid” clause defense since such a defense did not exist. Id. at 972. See also Shearman & Associates, Inc. v. Continental Casualty Co., 901 F. Supp. 199, 203 (D.V.I. 1995) (holding that a surety cannot rely upon a “pay-if-paid” clause in that such a clause is in violation of public policy as expressed in the Virgin Islands Construction Lien Statute) and Brown & Kerr Inc., 940 F. Supp. at 1250 (holding that a conditional payment clause in a subcontract is in violation of Illinois public policy as expressed in that state’s Mechanics Lien Act and would not preclude payment under a payment bond to a subcontractor).

Courts have used similar logic even on public projects on which the subcontractor would not have statutory lien rights. In the case of Chapman v. EI Constructors, Inc., 1995 WL 91391 (Conn. Super. 1995), a subcontractor, whose subcontract contained a conditional payment clause, filed suit against the general contractor’s surety bond. The bonding company raised a “pay when paid” defense. Id. at *5. The court found such a defense “unavailing” and held that

“to allow the City’s nonpayment to prevent plaintiff’s recovery under both the subcontract and the payment bond would entirely frustrate the public policy of [the Connecticut Public Bond Statute].” Id. at *5-6.

Another case that discusses the invalidity of a pay-if-paid clause on a public project is Capital Steel Fabricators, Inc. v. Mega Construction Co., Inc., 58 Cal. App. 4th 1049, 68 Cal. Rptr. 2d. 672 (1997). In Capital Steel, the plaintiff was a subcontractor on a School District project in California. The subcontract contained a pay-if-paid clause, which the Court stated unambiguously permitted the general contractor to not pay its subcontractors until payment was received from the owner. Id. at 158. The Supreme Court of California in the case of Wm. R. Clarke Corp. v. Safeco Insurance Co., 64 Cal. Rptr.2d 578, 938 P.2d 372 (1997), had previously ruled that such clauses, however, were unenforceable as a violation of public policy on private construction projects, and the question before the Capital Steel court was whether that holding would apply to public projects as well. Id. The arguments made by the contractor and its bonding company was that the basis of the court’s opinion in Wm. R. Clarke was the inability of the subcontractor to file a mechanics’ lien on a private project thereby robbing the subcontractor of a remedy to its nonpayment and that, since their matter involved a public project, no mechanic’s lien could be filed thereby rendering Wm. R. Clarke inapplicable. Id. at 1060. The Capital Steel court, however, disagreed with the general contractor and its surety and held:

Because the mechanics lien, the stop notice, and payment bond statutes are remedial in nature . . . and are meant to protect the subcontractors from defaulting contractors, there is no reason to conclude that a true pay when paid condition precedent clause is enforceable in a public works subcontract but not a private sector project. Accordingly, we conclude the general contractor’s liability to its subcontractor for work performed on a public works projects may not be made contingent on the governmental entity payment to the general contractor in a factual scenario such as is present in this case. [The general contractor] was liable to [the subcontractor] for the work it performed on the project as was the surety, Fidelity.

Id. at 1062.

As can be seen from the chart below, when faced with the question of the enforceability of a pay-if-paid clause against a subcontractor and especially when a surety seeks to enforce such a clause, many jurisdictions have ruled in the subcontractors favor.¹ These jurisdictions include California, Connecticut, Florida, Illinois, New York, the Virgin Islands and Virginia. In addition, Federal courts in the 9th Circuit, the 5th Circuit and the District of Colorado when faced with this exact question involving the Federal bonding statute, The Miller Act, have similarly ruled that the surety may not avoid liability due to a pay-if-paid clause.

Jurisdiction	Case	Holding
California	<u>Capital Steel Fabricators, Inc. v. Mega Construction Co., Inc.</u> , 58 Cal. App. 4th 149, 68 Cal. Rptr. 2d 672, 678-80 (1997)	Applies the ruling in the <u>Clarke</u> case to public works project even though lien statute is not applicable.
California	<u>Wm. R. Clarke Corp. v. Safeco Insurance Co.</u> , 64 Cal. Rptr. 2d 578, 584-85, 938 P.2d 372, 378-79 (Cal. 1997)	Court rejects surety's argument that its principal is not in default because the condition precedent for payment has not occurred and, instead, follows the <u>West-Fair</u> Court in ruling that the pay-if-paid clause is against public policy.
Connecticut	<u>R&L Acoustics v. Liberty Mutual Insurance Co.</u> , 2001 W.L. 1249658, *8 (Conn. Super. 2001)	In dicta, Court lays out argument that surety cannot rely upon pay-when-paid provisions.

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