IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Nos. 31869 and 31870

WELLINGTON POWER CORPORATION

Plaintiff Below, Petitioner Herein

v.

CNA SURETY CORPORATION d/b/a
CNA COMMERCIAL INSURANCE
Defendant Below, Cross-Petitioner Herein.

Case No.: 03-C-52

Consolidated with:

W.G. TOMKO, INCORPORATED
Plaintiff Below, Petitioner Herein

v.

CNA SURETY CORPORATION d/b/a
CNA COMMERCIAL INSURANCE
Defendant Below, Cross-Petitioner Herein.

Case No.: 03-C-94

BRIEF OF CROSS-PETITIONER CNA SURETY CORPORATION
IN SUPPORT OF ITS POSITION ON CERTIFIED QUESTION

Counsel For This Party

Billy Atkins, Esquire
(W.Va. State Bar ID No. 181)
Atkins Oblak & Beatty, PLLC
5000 Hampton Center, Suite 4

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

Pursuant to the sections 4.4.4 and 4.5.1 of the Supplementary General Conditions applicable to the Construction Management Agreement between Dick and WVU, any and all claims against WVU must be filed in the West Virginia Court of Claims. (Tomko R. at 41; Wellington R. at 117.) Accordingly, the Plaintiffs expressly agreed to prosecute and resolve claims on this public Project, such as those set forth in the Complaints which are alleged to have resulted from the redesign and rebidding ordered by WVU, in accordance with the procedures set forth in Dick's Construction Management Agreement with WVU, including submission of such claims for resolution by the West Virginia Court of Claims.

III. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

The Certified Question to be answered by this Court is:

In a public building project in West Virginia, does a "pay-if-paid" condition precedent clause violate West Virginia public policy, as articulated in the West Virginia Public Bond Statute (W. Va. Code § 38-2-39), so as to entitle a subcontractor to proceed with a claim against a contractor's surety bond, despite the terms of its subcontract that the contractor itself is not liable for payment to the subcontractor because of the failure of the same "pay-if-paid" condition precedent clause?

The Circuit Court answered the question in the affirmative and, for all the reasons cited herein, this Court should reverse the decision below and answer the Certified Question in the negative.

IV. DISCUSSION OF THE LAW

A. Public Policy Supports Enforcing a Pay-If-Paid Provision That Establishes a Clear Condition Precedent to Payment of a Subcontractor.

"[I]f there is one thing which more than another public policy requires it is that men of full age and competent

understanding shall have the utmost liberty of contracting, and that their contracts, when entered into freely and voluntarily, shall be held sacred, and shall be enforced by courts of justice. Therefore, you have this paramount public policy to consider,—that you are not lightly to interfere with this freedom of contract.”

State v. Memorial Gardens Dev. Corp., 143 W. Va. 182, 190, 101 S.E.2d 425, 430 (1958), quoting, Baltimore & O. S. W. Ry. Co. v. Voigt, 176 U.S. 498, 505-06 (1900).

The public policy on which this Court should rely in answering the certified question is the principle of freedom of contract. It has been stated that “the sanctity of a contract is a fundamental concept of our entire legal structure.” Chambers Development Co., Inc. v. Passaic County Utility Authority, 62 F.3d 582, 589 (3rd Cir. 1995). “[P]arties ought to be able to rely on the agreements they form with one another. That is *the* central premise of contract law.” Blasland, Bouck & Lee, Inc. v. City of North Miami, 96 F. Supp. 2d 1375, 1382 (S.D. Fla. 2000). Consistent with this fundamental principle, the goal of the courts of West Virginia in contract cases such as the one now before this Court should be to determine the intention of the parties to the contract and to enforce that contractual intent accordingly.

Not surprisingly, that is the manner in which the vast majority of courts around the nation have interpreted and enforced pay-if-paid provisions in construction contracts. Decisions in the many cases that have considered the enforceability of pay-if-paid provisions have turned on an inquiry as to the parties’ intent. If a pay-if-paid provision is clearly intended by the parties to establish that the general contractor’s receipt of payment from the owner is a condition precedent to recovery by the subcontractor, then that intention is enforced by the courts. If, on the other hand, no

clear intention to create a condition precedent can be found from the contractual language used or from extrinsic evidence in the case of ambiguity, then the courts frequently have interpreted pay-if-paid language simply to establish a general time for payment (i.e. at the time of receipt of actual payment by the general contractor or at a reasonable time even if such payment has not been received) and not as a strict condition precedent to payment of the subcontractor.

1. The Dyer Case Sets Forth the Majority View, Which Properly Turns On Contractual Intent.

Thomas J. Dyer Company v. Bishop International Engineering Co., 303 F.2d 655 (6th Cir. 1962) is the seminal case. In Dyer, the Court of Appeals carefully analyzed a contract between a general contractor and a subcontractor on a construction project in Kentucky to determine the intention of the parties in adopting a pay-if-paid provision. Based on the Court's analysis, its ultimate holding was that the pay-if-paid language included in the subcontract in that case was not meant to impose a strict condition precedent to payment of the subcontractor. Rather, the Court interpreted the language used in that subcontract only as establishing that the time of payment of the subcontractor would be receipt of payment by the general contractor or at a "reasonable . . . time if it develops that such an event does not take place." 303 F.2d at 659. In its discussion of the relevant cases, the Dyer Court noted that courts demand clear evidence of intention to establish a condition precedent through use of pay-if-paid language, but pointed out that "it is the intention of the parties which is the controlling factor in each particular case." Id. at 660.

Plaintiffs inaccurately contend that the majority view is that pay-if-paid clauses are not enforceable. A survey of cases nationwide shows that the majority of jurisdictions have followed Dyer's more reasoned approach of looking to the intention of the parties to determine whether a pay-if-paid provision should be construed as an express condition precedent to payment or simply as a timing provision.⁴ In applying this approach, courts have required clear evidence of an intention to create a condition precedent before one will be found to exist. As predicted in Dyer, the cases have turned on the particular language used by the parties in their agreement and variations in contract language have caused results to differ. However, in those cases where intention to create a condition precedent was readily discernable in the contract language, courts have upheld and enforced that intention.

For example, L. Harvey Concrete, Inc. v. Agro Construction & Supply Company, 189 Ariz. 178, 939 P.2d 811 (1997) considered a pay-if-paid provision that stated expressly that receipt of payment by the general contractor was a "condition precedent" to payment of the subcontractor.⁵ The court cited to Dyer and fully acknowledged "the general rule that conditions precedent are not favored in the law and that courts are not inclined to construe a contractual provision as a condition precedent unless such construction is plainly and unambiguously required by the language of the

⁴ A number of Law Review articles have collected and analyzed cases from around the nation and found Dyer to be the case followed in the majority of jurisdictions. See, e.g., Hendrick, Spangler and Wedge, Battling for the Bucks: The Great Contingency Payment Clause Debate, 16-JUL Construction Law 12 (1996); Comment, Show Me the Money: A Comment on the Enforceability of "Pay-If-Paid" Clauses in Contracts for Personal Services, 33 U.S.F. L. Rev. 99 (1999); see also R.N. Robinson & Son, Inc. v. Ground Improvement Techniques, 31 F.Supp.2d 881, 886 n.3 (D.Colo.1998) ("[T]he majority of courts carve out an exception to the general rule regarding pay-when-paid clauses when the parties expressly contemplate shifting the burden of forfeiture under a subcontract to the subcontractor by promising payment only if the primary contractor is paid, not when.").

⁵ The contract expressly used the term "condition precedent" in providing "that payment for either progress payments or final payment is not due and owing to the subcontractor . . . until the owner has made such payment to the contractor." 939 P.2d at 813

contract.” 939 P.2d at 814. In view of the express contractual language in that case, the court had no difficulty in finding that the language did create an express condition prohibiting recovery by the subcontractor until the general contractor had received payment from the owner.

Similarly, in Berkel & Co. Contractors v. Christman Co., 210 Mich. App. 416, 533 N.W. 2d 838 (1995), the Court held that a pay-if-paid provision was an enforceable condition to payment which prevented the subcontractor from bringing a cause of action against the general contractor. The contractual provision in that case also expressly stated that the general contractor’s receipt of payment from the owner was a “condition precedent” to an obligation to pay the subcontractor. Likewise, in DEC Electric, Inc. v. Raphael Construction Corp., 558 So. 2d 427, 428 (Fla. 1990), a contractual provision stated that “[n]o funds will be owed to the subcontractor unless the general contractor is paid by the owner.” This language, too, was held to create an explicit condition precedent to payment of the subcontractor.

Many additional examples exist where courts have expressly cited Dyer or adopted similar reasoning in finding that pay-if-paid language created a condition precedent to payment. Such cases include:

Star Contracting Corp. v. Manway Constr. Co., 337 A.2d 669, 670-71 (Conn. Super. Ct. 1973) (contract provided that “payment will not be made by the Contractor to the Subcontractor until the Owner has made payment to the Contractor for the work”);

Robert F. Wilson, Inc. v. Post-Tensioned Structures, Inc., 522 So.2d 79, 79-80 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1988) (contract provided that “final payment is contingent upon payment to the Contractor” and that “no compensation . . . shall be due the Subcontractor from the Contractor until payment . . . is received by the Contractor”);

St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co. v. Georgia Interstate Elec. Co., 370 S.E.2d 829, 830-31 (Ga. Ct. App. 1988) (contract provided that “no payment shall be due Subcontractor . . . until Contractor has received payment from the Owner”);

New Amsterdam Cas. Co. v. Allen Co., 446 S.W.2d 278, 279 (Ky. Ct. App. 1969) (contract provided that the contractor "shall pay [the subcontractor] each month, within two days after first party has received payment from the [Owner]");

Gilbane Bldg. Co. v. Brisk Waterproofing Co., 585 A.2d 248, 249-52 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 1991) (contract provided that "[i]t is specifically understood and agreed that the payment to the trade contractor is dependent, as a condition precedent, upon the construction manager receiving contract payments, including retainer from the owner");

Mascioni v. I.B. Miller, Inc., 184 N.E. 473, 473-74 (N.Y. 1933) (contract stated "payments to be made as received from the Owner");

North Harris County Junior Coll. Dist. v. Fleetwood Constr. Co., 604 S.W.2d 247, 255 (Tex. Civ. App. 1980) (contract provided that "final payment shall be made after . . . full payment therefore by Owner").

The parties have found no reported West Virginia case that has considered the interpretation and enforcement of a pay-if-paid provision. But the cases from other jurisdictions which have interpreted such provisions using the same mode of analysis employed in Dyer are fully in accord with the existing law of West Virginia, as established by this Court, concerning the interpretation of contractual conditions generally. In Adams v. Guyandotte Valley Railroad Company, 61 S.E. 341, 344-45 (1908), this Court provided the following helpful observations concerning contractual conditions:

"Conditions have no idiom. Whether they be precedent or subsequent is a question purely of intent, and the intention must be determined by considering, not only the words of the particular clause, but also the language of the whole contract as well as the nature of the act required to the subject matter to which it relates.

* * *

Under the practically unlimited right and power of parties to make such contracts as they see fit to make, and bind themselves to such extent and in such manner as they please, they may make performance of any covenant or condition, however unimportant or trivial in character, a condition precedent. Though time of

performance may be comparatively or really unimportant in a practical sense, they have the power to stipulate with one another that failure to observe it shall be fatal and put an end to the contract. They may make the entire transaction turn upon that as a condition precedent. In Bettini v. Gye, cited, Blackburn, Judge, said: "Parties may think some matter apparently of little importance essential, and, if they sufficiently express an intention to make the literal fulfillment of such a thing a condition precedent, it will be one."

Thus, this Court itself has analyzed and enforced contractual conditions in a manner very similar to that used in Dyer, albeit not in the specific context of a pay-if-paid provision in a construction contract.

2. The Cases Cited by the Plaintiffs Actually Demonstrate Why West Virginia Should Follow the Majority Rule in Answering the Certified Question.

The cases cited above have considered the enforceability of pay-if-paid provisions using an analysis that is fully consistent with the overriding public policy considerations in such cases: upholding freedom of contract and enforcing a contract between two parties according to its clear written terms. Contrary to these important public policy goals, the Plaintiffs here advocate that West Virginia should adopt a blanket position holding void as against public policy any agreement to make the owner's payment of the general contractor a condition precedent to a subcontractor's entitlement to payment on a construction project. According to the Plaintiffs, this policy should void such provisions even where, as in this case, they are specifically negotiated and clearly intended by the parties. In support of their argument, Plaintiffs point to a handful of cases where, because of idiosyncrasies in the mechanics lien and public contract bonding statutes of the states involved, courts have held that pay-if-paid provisions are violative of the public policy of those other states.

Plaintiffs place primary reliance on West-Fair Electric Contractors v. Aetna Casualty & Surety Co., 638 N.Y.S.2d 394, 661 N.E.2d 967 (N.Y. 1995), a case that did not even involve a public contract. There, the Court held that the particular features of New York's Mechanics Lien Law established a public policy in New York disallowing enforcement of a pay-if-paid condition precedent by the general contractor and his surety. The West-Fair case perfectly illustrates the following two primary factors which have caused some courts to refuse enforcement of pay-if-paid provisions, either through strict interpretation of the contractual provisions or, in rare instances, by declaring them unenforceable as against the particular state's public policy. First, some courts dislike provisions that operate to transfer of the risk of owner insolvency to the subcontractor. Second, courts dislike provisions that may, depending on other features of the state's law, leave the subcontractor without any remedy whatsoever. **Importantly**, neither of these factors is present in a bonded public construction project such as the present WVU Life Services Building Project.

The result in West-Fair is easily explained by the considerations mentioned above. First, the private owner of the project in that case had become insolvent and the Court noted that "lack of future payments by the owner is virtually certain." 638 N.Y.S.2d at 398, 661 N.E.2d at 971. Thus, enforcement of the pay-if-paid provision in the circumstances of that case would have operated to transfer totally the risk of owner insolvency and nonpayment from the general contractor to the subcontractor. Second, the subcontractor's normal remedy of pursuing a mechanics' lien claim was foreclosed under the peculiar language of New York's Lien Law. The New York Court observed:

"Plaintiff's right to receive payment has been indefinitely postponed, and Plaintiff has effectively waived its right to enforce its mechanics liens. The waiver has occurred by operation of the pay-when-paid provision because mechanics' liens may not be enforced until a debt becomes due and payable.⁶

Id. Third, and perhaps most significantly, New York's Lien Law contains an express provision stating that "any contract, agreement or understanding whereby the right to file or enforce any lien created under this [statute] is waived, shall be void as against public policy and wholly unenforceable." N.Y.S.2d at 397, 661 N.E.2d at 970, quoting, New York Lien Law, §34. These were the circumstances that motivated the West-Fair Court to declare a pay-if-paid provision unenforceable as against New York public policy.

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